TITLE VII - THE COURTS

Last Amended by S.B. 2015-2016.2 "Appeals Clarification Act"

CHAPTER 100 - JUDICIAL CODE

ARTICLE I. ADMINISTRATIVE

- **AUTHORIZATION.** This Title and all of its regulations are authorized pursuant to Article III(10)(h),(i),(j) of the Student Government Constitution.
- §2 **PURPOSE.** To establish a policy and procedure for the proper and orderly conduct of judicial business.
- §3 **TERMS OF OFFICE.** The terms and conditions of office for officials of the Supreme Court and other judicial officers shall be those designated under the Student Government Constitution and Student Government Code.
- §4 **DEFINITIONS.** Unless specified the term "Constitution" "constitutional" or "statute" or any variation of these words shall reference the Student Government Constitution and Student Government Code.
 - (a) A "business day" shall be defined as a day of normal business operation for the University between Monday and Friday between 8:00 AM and 5:00 PM.
- **ABSENCE.** Notice of an absence must be submitted to the Chief Justice, twenty-four (24) hours in advance of the missed Supreme Court meeting or hearing.
 - (a) Absences in excess of two (2), no matter the circumstances or excuse shall be just cause for impeachment.
- **RECORDING.** Documentation for excused absences must be submitted to the Chief Justice no later than twenty-four (24) hours after the missed Supreme Court meeting or hearing.
- ABSENCE OF CHIEF JUSTICE. If the Chief Justice is, at any time, temporarily unable to perform his duties or if his office is vacant, an alternate shall take his place until such time a permanent replacement is confirmed. This alternate shall be the next longest serving justice, and if all Associate Justice shall have served for the same period the oldest of the longest serving Associate Justice shall serve as Chief.
- §8 **OATH OF OFFICE.** All officials of the Supreme Court shall take an oath of office before taking office. This oath shall be administered by the Chief Justice. If the Chief Justice is to take the oath, it shall be administered by the President.

- (a) All members of the Judicial Branch shall notify the Chief Justice of the intent to resign from his position. Upon notification, the Chief Justice shall inform the President of the vacancy.
- §9 **RULES OF LAW.** The Supreme Court shall provide an adequate remedy to all complaints filed, so long as the complaint is within the Supreme Court's constitutional jurisdiction and provides a remedy which affords equitable, practical, and appropriate relief under the circumstances.
 - (a) The Supreme Court shall use Acts of the Senate and House, the Student Government Code, Constitution, as well as the principles and spirit of Student Government law to base its decisions. It shall cite its reasoning's and justifications under those documents pertaining to each case.
 - (b) The Supreme Court shall hear information relevant to the case.
 - (c) All Student Government legislation, Orders, the Student Government Code, and University regulations shall be given a strict construction. Any ambiguous provision shall be interpreted in such a way as to give full meaning and effect to that provision with reference to the intent of the provision. If the intent of a given provision cannot be determined, the Supreme Court shall use the context of the provision, as well as general principles of justice and equity, to give full meaning to the provision in question.

- §10 **JURISDICTION AND APPEALS.** As provided for in the Constitution, the Supreme Court shall have jurisdiction over all appeals. When the justices accept hearing an appeal the following shall apply:
 - (a) At no time will the Supreme Court embrace issues not cited in the complaint or appeal.
 - (b) The Court cannot ignore the question or issue within the original complaint and appeal. In addition, the Court may address any related interpretative, factual, procedural or other issues that may affect the original case and appeal.
 - (c) The Court will assume all powers of the judicial body that originally heard the complaint, question, or issue so that the court may resolve the case as quickly and effectively as possible.
 - (d) The Court shall issue orders and or opinions to resolve the appeal effectively and completely.
- §11 **COUNSEL.** Any party brought before the Supreme Court has the right to a maximum of two (2) Texas State students to serve as counsels. This right shall not be suspended by any court or component of Student Government. Any party that elects representation by counsel shall be bound to all actions and statements made by said counsel.
- §12 **STANDING.** Any aggrieved party, who is a Texas State student, must demonstrate to the court a connection to the action on which the complaint is based.
 - (a) An aggrieved party must file in the complaint the rules that have been broken or applied incorrectly and how this has impacted them.
 - (b) Members of the Supreme Court and Supreme Court staff shall not have standing to file complaints with the court.
- §13 **STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.** No case shall be heard by the Supreme Court more than sixty 60 business days after the alleged act, occurrence, or transaction that constitutes the basis of the case.

- (a) Should a contested action occur during a recess of court business the start date for the statute of limitations shall begin on the first day that court business resumes.
- (b) Actions outside of the sixty (60) class day statute of limitations shall still be admissible to establish a pattern of behavior related to the case and is completely admissible as evidence.
- §14 **ORIGINAL JURISDICTION.** The Supreme Court shall have original jurisdiction as prescribed in the Student Government Constitution.
- §15 **JUDICIAL MEMORANDUM.** All administrative matters of the Supreme Court shall be issued by Judicial Memorandum; this includes, but is not limited to: all internal appointments, resignations, and expenses. All Judicial Memorandums issued by the Chief Justice are public record. Each Judicial Memorandum, as well as all injunctions, advisory opinions or Court Orders and Opinions must be forwarded to the Director Rules and Standards.
- §16 **TIMELINE.** All requests shall be responded to within 10 days whereby the court will inform the requestor of the status of the request and if accepted shall include a hearing date to be set no more than seven (7) days from the date of contact.
 - (a) The Court Clerk shall assign a docket number to the case and notify the Chief Justice of the complaint within one (1) class day of receiving a filed complaint.
 - (b) Within three (3) business days of receiving a filed complaint from the Court Clerk, the Chief Justice shall notify the Supreme Court, the President, the Student Vice President, the Dean of Students, the complainant, and the respondent of the complaint and shall arrange a date and place for the hearing to be held.
 - (c) The Chief Justice shall notify the Court Clerk and the Supreme Court of the date and time of the hearing. Within twenty-four 24 hours, the Clerk shall forward this information to the complainant and the respondent by official Texas State e-mail.
 - (d) All hearings shall be heard by the Supreme Court within seven (7) business days of the filing of a Notice of Complaint.
 - (e) If a case arises from a Student Government Election, the hearing involving that case shall be held within twenty-four 24 hours of the filing of a Notice of Complaint with the Court Clerk.

ARTICLE II. GENERAL PROCEDURES

- MEETINGS. Apart from hearings, the Supreme Court may meet in open door proceedings with the attendance of the Court Clerk and any counsel to address administrative or hearing related issue. They shall meet informally to discuss with any person planning to be before the Court to discuss and clarify procedural issues. Pretrial preparatory meetings between complainant and respondent shall be closed to the public and all other court members unless permitted by the Chief Justice.
- §2 **COMPLAINTS.** All causes of action pursued in the Supreme Court shall be initiated by the filing of a Notice of Complaint with the Court Clerk. The court shall hear no case unless a complaint has been filed and the justices agree by majority vote to hear the case. A complaint filed with the Supreme Court shall conform to the template found in the Appendix V of this document and shall be made available to the complainant by the Court Clerk. Complaints shall contain basic information as outlined in the appendix including:
 - (a) A statement of pursuance under which the complainant is filing the complaint, usually in the form of a question.
 - (b) A statement relating to the cause for action, or claim of harm, under which the court can act to remedy, citing the relevant Student Government rule or regulation that has been violated.
 - (c) A summary of the requested action to be taken by the court.
 - (d) A citation of the Student Government Code or Constitution which grants the complainant standing with the Supreme Court. The Supreme Court shall decide if the statement of standing is within their jurisdiction.
- §3 **REMEDY.** The court shall, by the consent of the majority issue Court Orders to rectify, provide temporary or permanent relief in regards to the harm as filed in the Notice of Complaint.
 - (a) Justices shall be prohibited from filing a complaint or any other request before the Supreme Court or any lower court.
- REQUEST FOR AN ADVISORY OPINION. A request for an Advisory Opinion may be made to request the Supreme Court review specific language of any Student Government, Code, statute, regulation or action to test its meaning and constitutionality so long as no person or entity requires relief or correction. The request for an Advisory Opinion shall be in accordance with Appendix X.

- (a) A request for an Advisory Opinion shall be heard, decided and made public in the same way as a Complaint.
- (b) A request for an Advisory Opinion shall contain all the same provisions as a Complaint except for the Cause of Action. The Cause of Action shall be replaced with a single question about a single section of the rule or statute in question.
- (c) A Supreme Court Advisory Opinion shall have the same force and effect as any other court opinion.
- §5 **POSTING REQUIREMENTS.** The Court Clerk shall provide the complainant with a citation, which shall contain:
 - (a) A list of the charges and/or claims brought against the respondent.
 - (b) The date, time, and place of the scheduled proceedings.
 - (c) The penalties for failure to appear before the Court, including default judgment, and suspension and/or expulsion from office.
- \$6 **HEARING AND MEETING NOTICE.** After receiving notification from the Chief Justice, the Court Clerk shall post a notice for any hearing and meeting of the Supreme Court where decisions are made on the Texas State Student Government website.
- §7 **BRIEFS.** Both parties to a case and any interested parties may file briefs with the Court Clerk. Briefs must be received by the Court Clerk no later than thirty30 hours prior to the commencement of a hearing.
 - (a) In the event of an election hearing, briefs must be submitted no later than fifteen 15 hours prior to the hearing.
 - (b) Briefs must conform to the template provided to both parties by the Court Clerk. The template can be found in the <u>Appendix VI</u> of this document. The brief submitted to the Court Clerk shall not exceed eight (8) typed pages.
 - (c) Supplementary documents must be submitted at the same time as the brief. If supplementary documentation is not included with the brief, it may be presented at the hearing with a majority vote of the justices.
 - (d) The Court Clerk, acting under the direction of the Chief Justice, shall distribute copies of all briefs at least five (5) hours before the scheduled hearing, to all parties including the respondent, the complainant, and counsel.

- (e) The Chief Justice reserves the right to deny the admission of an excessive number of briefs.
- \$8 **TRANSCRIPTION OF PROCEEDINGS.** All proceedings of the Supreme Court shall be recorded with an audio recorder or written transcript. Parties may access the recording upon request to the Chief Justice. Anything recorded during the hearing will be stored in a court archive for 5 years.
 - (a) Any interested parties shall contact the Chief Justice to request access to the recordings. Access must be granted or denied within two (2) business days of the request.
 - (b) The Court Clerk shall present a thorough written summary of the testimony and arguments produced during the hearing.

ARTICLE III. HEARINGS

- §1 **ORDER OF PROCEEDINGS.** The Chief Justice shall call a hearing to order and shall verify that all relevant parties are present. The Court shall hear one question at a time.
 - (a) The oath or affirmation of truth shall be administered by the Chief Justice or his designee, in accordance with this code.
 - (b) The Chief Justice shall entertain any motions from the parties, in accordance with this code.
 - (c) The Court shall hear opening and closing arguments from both parties, and the Court shall also hear the examination and cross-examination of all witnesses or arguments. The Chief Justice shall dismiss all parties from the room and deliberation shall begin.
 - (d) The Court shall reconvene and announce its decision after deliberation has ended.
 - (e) The Chief Justice shall then adjourn the Court.
 - (f) The verdict of the Supreme Court shall be posted on the official Student Government website.
 - (g) A sample agenda has been established.
- §2 **DRESS CODE.** The Supreme Court may issue before the hearing the proper dress attire.

 Any person to present to the Court not properly dressed shall not be recognized by the Court.
- §3 **OATH OF AFFIRMATION OF TRUTH.** An oath or affirmation of truth shall be administered to all participating parties and witnesses prior to motions and arguments in

every Supreme Court hearing, and serves as agreement on the part of the witness to tell the truth. Failure to do so shall result in disciplinary penalty as prescribed by the court.

- (a) The oath or affirmation of truth shall be administered by the Chief Justice or his designee.
- (b) The form for the oath or affirmation of truth shall be as follows:
 - (1) "I [state your full name] do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth as the laws of Student Government require."
- MOTIONS. At the commencement of proceedings the Chief Justice shall entertain any motions from the parties. If necessary, the Court shall hear arguments and testimony on the motions, provided that the Chief Justice, at his discretion, may limit the time allotted for arguments and testimony.
 - (a) At any time after the commencement of proceedings, the Chief Justice shall entertain any motions.
 - (b) The Supreme Court shall recognize nine (9) motions which, if granted, shall have the effect of delaying or dismissing the case, as appropriate:
 - (1) Motion for a Continuance
 - (i) Allows for the Court to continue hearing the case at a later time.
 - (2) Motion for Dismissal on the Grounds of Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction
 - (i) Allows for the Court to dismiss a case outside the realm of its original jurisdiction. This motion shall automatically be heard if a court with original jurisdiction has not issued orders or opinions on the issue before the Supreme Court. If this is the case the Supreme Court must refer the case back to the court with original jurisdiction.
 - (3) Motion for Dismissal on the Grounds of Lack of Standing on the Part of the Complainant.
 - (i) Reference Article I, Section 9 of the Judicial Code.
 - (4) Motion for Dismissal on the Grounds of statute Limitations.
 - (i) Reference Article I, Section 10 of the Judicial Code.
 - (5) Motion for Dismissal on the Grounds of Issue at Hand has Already been Decided.

- (i) Allows for the Court to dismiss the case in whole or part based on previous interpretation of the Supreme Court.
- (6) Motion for Intervention of Interested Parties.
 - (i) Allows for the Court to define individuals who possess material information relevant to the case at hand.
- (7) Motion for Recusal.
 - (i) Reference Article VI of the Judicial Code.
- (8) Motion for Default Judgment.
 - (i) A motion applicable when one or both parties are not present at a hearing resulting in an immediate closing of the public proceedings for deliberations by the court.
- (9) Motion for recess.
 - (i) The time for a recess will be proscribed by the Court or proposed to the Court.
- §5 **PROPER USAGE OF MOTIONS.** Motion 1 may be issued prior to the commencement of the Supreme Court proceedings provided that the motion is submitted in writing before the convening of the case at hand and is signed by the party submitting the motion.
 - (a) Motions 2, 3, 4, and 5 (above) may not be waived by the parties. If the parties fail to make these motions when applicable, the Chief Justice may make and grant them himself.
 - (b) Motion 8 may be issued if the respondent fails to appear at a duly convened hearing after having been notified.
 - (c) Motion 6 may be addressed after opening remarks by either parties but before evidence is submitted. This applies to witnesses or those with evidence not already provided by either party which may come forward and present information to the court.
 - (d) For motion 7 please reference Article VI of the Judicial Code.
 - (e) In response to a motion for default judgment, the Chief Justice shall order the complainant to present his case. At the close of complainant's case, the Supreme Court may enter a default judgment. The judgment shall then be forwarded to the Court Clerk

- (f) Upon receiving a default judgment, the Court Clerk shall post a notice informing the respondent that a default judgment has been entered.
- §6 **OPENING AND CLOSING ARGUMENTS.** The complainant(s) and respondent(s), along with any of their counsel, who have filed briefs with the Court Clerk may present opening and closing arguments to the Supreme Court after all motions have been ruled upon.
 - (a) The Chief Justice may limit the length of time allotted for opening and closing arguments at his discretion provided that each party shall be allowed an equal amount of time to present arguments.
 - (b) Any party may waive its right to an opening and/or closing argument.
- **WITNESSES.** Parties may present witnesses in support of their respective cases provided that the oath or affirmation of truth is administered to the witnesses prior to testimony.
 - (a) Parties shall have the right to cross-examine all witnesses, so long as they submit their questions in a court brief and the Supreme Court Chief Justice has given permission for the questions to be asked.
 - (b) The Chief Justice may limit the time to examine and cross-examine witnesses, provided that each party has an equal amount of time. This additional time shall not be included in the total time the Chief Justice affords to all parties.
- SUBPOENA POWERS. The Chief Justice may compel, through subpoena any member of Student Government, either elected or appointed, to appear in court as a witness, and may also request, through formal letter any Texas State student, faculty, or staff member to appear in court as a witness. No member of the Texas State faculty or staff is required to attend or comply with anything the Supreme Court requests and any request will come with an explicit statement of this fact. Matters of public record may be requested per local, state and federal law.
 - (a) A subpoena may also be issued to any Student Government member, either elected or appointed, to provide documentation relevant to the cases being heard.
 - (b) Any member of Student Government, either elected or appointed, who fails to appear or provide subpoenaed documents before the Supreme Court when so compelled may face penalties as specified in the Judicial Code.
- §9 **QUESTIONS FROM THE BENCH.** Any Supreme Court Justice may question the parties at any time during the proceedings for purposes of clarification.

- (a) Any time spent answering questions from the bench shall not be included in the total amount of time allotted by the Chief Justice to all parties.
- (b) If any party objects to the questions of any Supreme Court Justice, they shall make an oral objection.
- (c) Such objections shall be ruled on by the Chief Justice at the time of objection and placed on record by the Court Clerk.
- §10 **DELIBERATION AND JUDGMENT.** At the close of arguments, the hearing shall recess for deliberation. Only members of the Supreme Court and their counsel shall be admitted into deliberation.
 - (a) The Chief Justice may poll the justices at any time during deliberation to decide when to close the public hearing.
 - (b) Deliberation shall end when a majority of the justices constituting quorum agree to either grant the relief requested, grant a relief agreed upon by the Supreme Court, or to deny the relief requested.
 - (1) Voting of the court by proxy or remote shall be prohibited.
 - (c) Deliberation shall not exceed three (3) business days. Concentrated study period, finals week, and University sanctioned holidays or emergency closures shall not be included in the tabulation of time spent in deliberation.
 - (d) When a decision has been reached, the Court shall reconvene in open session. The decision of the Supreme Court shall be announced to the parties by the Chief Justice, along with the reasons for the decision.
 - (e) The Chief Justice shall assign a justice to write a majority opinion of every case, or shall reserve the right for himself. All judgments, together with the opinion of the Supreme Court shall be forwarded to the Court Clerk within five (5) business days of the oral judgment.
 - (f) Any justice may write a concurring or dissenting opinion at his discretion, which should be filed separately with the Court Clerk.
 - (g) Upon receipt of the majority opinion, the Court Clerk shall forward copies to the President, Rules and Standards Director, and to the Dean of Students. Additional copies shall be filed in the Court archive and posted on the Student Government website.

- (1) Any minority or concurrent opinions will be directed to the Rules and Regulations Chair and placed on the Student Government website with distinct notification of its minority status.
- (h) If the judgment is returned by the Dean of Students for correction as to University regulation (excluding Student Government documents), the Court shall reconvene at the order of the Chief Justice. The Court shall resume its deliberations and reconsider its findings, as recommended.
- (i) The Chief Justice shall preside over all deliberations of the Supreme Court.
- **§11 COURT ORDERS AND OPINIONS.** Supreme Court and Election Board Orders and Opinions should be written in a scholarly, detailed and deliberative way, citing, whenever possible the constitutional provision or statute which substantiates the Court's opinion and actions.
 - (a) The Court shall issue one or all of the following: Majority Opinion, Minority Opinion or a Concurrent Opinion, or if not reaching a majority a per curium decision.
 - (1) A Majority opinion shall be the written opinion of the majority of the justices and basis of any court orders.
 - (2) A Minority opinion shall be written opinion of the minority embracing any issue presented or discussed in the majority opinion.
 - (i) The Election Board shall not issue minority opinions.
 - (3) A Concurrent opinion will provide support for the majority opinion but may deviate in its application or method of support from that which is listed in the Majority Opinion.
 - (4) A per curiam decision is one where the court was unable to reach a majority decision and shall affirm the lower court's decision or provide no precedent, action or remedy.
 - (b) Upon the conclusion of a hearing and after deliberation the Supreme Court shall provide a written decision. This decision will come in the way of court orders and opinions. This document will come in two distinct parts, but are to remain one document. The majority opinion of the court shall detail the reasoning and justifications for its orders and shall meet the standards as outlined in this section. The courts orders shall detail the actions it is taking or is commanding other

- components of Student Government to take in order to comply with its majority opinion.
- (c) Majority opinions may be opposed through a written minority opinion or agreed with in part or whole by a concurring opinion, however no minority order or concurrent order may ever be written.
- (d) Orders and opinions must, whenever possible, cite under what statute or constitutional provision the Court is acting in order to provide judicial direction for lower courts and Student Government to use in making and justifying decisions.
- (e) Orders and opinions can only embrace the question before the Court and the Court may not take the liberty to decide on any other issues. The Court shall have the power in its opinions address related issues and questions which arise in the course of the hearing and discussion but shall not embrace issues not directly relating to the question before them.
- (f) Orders and opinions should have an introduction, set of conclusions, findings, opinions, and any related orders in that sequence.

ARTICLE IV. FAILURE TO APPEAR

- **DEFINITION.** A respondent has failed to appear before the Court when, after proper notification via Texas State e-mail, he does not make an appearance, in person or by counsel, at a duly convened proceeding of the Supreme Court.
- **PENALTIES.** If a Student Government official, elected or appointed, knowingly fails to appear before the Supreme Court, he may be suspended by the Supreme Court.
 - (a) The decision to suspend a Student Government official shall be made only by the Supreme Court and shall be executed by the President or the Dean of Students, as appropriate.
- §3 **PROCESS OF SUSPENSION.** If the official has failed to appear before the Supreme Court, the Chief Justice, or two Associate Justices in conjunction, may begin the process of suspension.
 - (a) The Chief Justice shall set a date for a hearing, which is to take place no later than three (3) business days from the date he failed to appear, regarding the suspension.
- §4 **SUSPENSION HEARING.** If the official appears before the Supreme Court at the appointed time, he shall be allowed to present his rebuttal to the charges.

- (a) If the official fails to appear before the Supreme Court at the appointed time, the Court shall adjourn immediately for deliberation.
- (b) Only members of the Supreme Court and their counsel shall be admitted into deliberation.
- (c) In deliberation, the Supreme Court shall decide whether the failure of the official to appear was reasonably excusable under the circumstances.
- (d) If the official's failure to appear is found to be inexcusable by a majority of the justices, the Chief Justice shall forward an order of suspension to the President or the Dean of Students for immediate action. If the official fails to appear before the Supreme Court in the matter of his failure to appear, the Supreme Court may issue a judgment for suspension.

ARTICLE V. RECUSATION

- §1 **RULE FOR RECUSAL.** Any justice of the Supreme Court shall recuse himself from participation in a case if he believes that, by virtue of his relationship or association with any of the parties to the case, he is unable to decide the case impartially.
 - (a) A motion for recusal made by the justices or either party or their counsel may be requested anytime during the hearing.
 - (b) A justice's refusal to recuse himself is subject to challenge if the aggrieved party believes that a justice who participated in deciding the aggrieved party's case should have recused himself.
- §2 **RELATED PARTIES.** Related parties include, but are not limited to:
 - (a) Anyone legally related to a party of the case before the Court, in a direct line of either ascendance, descendants, or collaterals within the first degree.
 - (b) Anyone whose name appears on campaigning material or is/was the agent or worker for any campaign.
 - (c) Anyone who has publicly announced his support of a party to the case before the Court. Public announcement is defined as:
 - (1) A letter of support to any periodical.
 - (2) Distributing campaign materials of a party of the case.
 - (3) Providing material or financial support of any kind.

- (4) Announcing said support in student organization meetings, social networking websites, e-mail, text messaging, or any other form of communication at the discretion of the Supreme Court.
- §3 **CHALLENGES.** The Supreme Court shall have original and exclusive jurisdiction in cases arising under this article and, therefore, shall proceed according to the procedures specified in Article I of the Judicial Code.
 - (a) Only members of the Supreme Court and their counsel shall be admitted into the challenge hearing.
 - (b) If a Supreme Court Justice is the subject of the challenge, the Chief Justice shall dismiss that justice from hearing the challenge. If the Chief Justice is the subject of the challenge, the Justice shall dismiss himself from hearing the challenge.
 - (c) Any justice that is the subject of a challenge shall have the right to defend himself in the same manner as a respondent and shall retain all the rights and privileges guaranteed to him granted under this code.
 - (d) If a majority of the justices find that the challenged justice should have recused himself and his/her failure to do so may have affected the outcome of the case, a new trial or hearing shall be ordered on behalf of the aggrieved party.

ARTICLE VI. INJUNCTIONS

- §1 **DEFINITION AND ISSUANCE.** The Supreme Court possesses the power to issue injunctions, pursuant to Student Government Constitution.
 - (a) An injunction is an order, issued in the name of the Supreme Court and executed by the Student Body President or Dean of Students, depending, which requires a Student Government official to do the following:
 - (1) Temporarily cease and desist any activity or practice until such a time as a full hearing can be held regarding the case or controversy; or,
 - (2) Grant to applicant such relief as is requested on a temporary basis until such a time as a full hearing can be held on the case or controversy.
- §2 **PROCEDURE FOR AN INJUNCTION BY THE SUPREME COURT.** Injunctions may be issued by the Chief Justice or any two (2) Associate Justices, in conjunction.

- (a) An injunction from the Supreme Court shall conform to the template found in the Appendix IV to this document, and shall be submitted to the Court Clerk.
- (b) The Clerk shall notify the Chief Justice and all interested parties of the injunction as soon as possible, but in no case more than twenty-four24 hours after the receipt of the injunction.
- (c) Injunctions may be issued against any Student Government election, Student Government official function, Student Government official in his/her capacity, or any legislative and/or executive instrument. Justices of the Supreme Court shall injunct no action of the Student Government or any member of the Student Government in instances where no petitioner has requested such action.
- (d) Injunctions may only be effective for a maximum of five (5) consecutive days including weekends. Any injunction purporting to have effect for a longer period is null and void.
- (e) A petition for an injunction may be included in the complaint filed by the complainant with the Court Clerk.
- (f) The Injunction Petition Form can be found in the <u>Appendix VII</u> to this document.
- (g) The Chief Justice or any two (2) Associate Justices, in conjunction, need not convene a hearing in order to consider a petition for injunction. The injunction may be issued on the basis of the complaint alone.
- §3 **BURDEN OF PETITIONER.** Injunctions shall not be issued unless the petitioner is able to demonstrate that immediate, irreparable harm will result without injunctive relief.
 - (a) An injunction is to be considered an extraordinary remedy.

ARTICLE VII. RIGHT TO COUNSEL

RIGHT TO COUNSEL. All Texas State students wishing to pursue or defend themselves in a trained Supreme Court or lower court hearing has a right to effective counsel by a student of Texas State University in the way of a Judicial Advocate. Students shall be informed of this right upon being made aware of a pending action in any Student Government Court. To this end, two students, preferably focusing on Public Administration or paralegal studies, may serve as Judicial Advocates to any student requesting this counsel.

- §2 **STUDENTS WISHING COUNSEL.** If any student wishes to have Judicial Advocates as counsel they shall inform the Supreme Court Chief Justice who shall assign an advocate to the student until the completion of the proceedings.
 - (a) If the student grants the Judicial Advocate the power to act as their agent or prepare documents in their name, actions of the advocate shall be the same as if the student had acted themselves.
 - (b) Students may revoke the counsel of an advocate at any time.
 - (c) Students may provide their own outside counsel, which can act as their advocate, so long this person is a student.
 - (d) Students may have a non-student, outside counsel, but any such counselor shall not be recognized to speak or present testimony or evidence.
 - (e) Students may counsel themselves or have any other student who is not a Judicial Advocate provide them with counsel.

ARTICLE VIII. PARKING APPEALS

- §1 **AUTHORIZATION.** This chapter and all of its regulation are authorized pursuant to Article III (10) (h) of the Student Government Constitution, provided agreement with university policies and officials.
- §2 **PURPOSE.** This authorizes the Student Government's Supreme Court to exercise the power to work closely with the Parking Services Department to handle and be the enduring authority over the final parking citation appeals process. Final Parking appeals will be handled by the appointed justices on the Student Government Supreme Court, chaired by the Court's Chief Justice. The Court's objective in taking over parking appeals shall be as follows:
 - (a) Ensure that students have a representative in the parking citation appeals process.
 - (b) Provide a more efficient process for final parking citation appeal reviews.
 - (c) Extensively review the appealed cases and evidence to determine whether or not a case has grounds for reversal.
 - (d) Take into account only the facts of the case and alleged violations of university policy.

- (e) Allow for student to present their case and alleged violations of university policy.
- (f) Issue rulings and opinions on cases that are beyond a reasonable doubt.
- (g) Draft and release opinions on cases that need further review, to be determined by the court, with Parking Services Department approval.
- (h) Follow the policies presented in the Parking Services Rules and Regulations.

§3 **PROCEDURE.** The parking appeals procedure will be as follows:

- (a) In order for the Court to review a case the defendant must:
 - i. Appeal the ticket to a Level One appeal.
 - ii. Upon denial of the Level One appeal, the ticket must be filed with the Court within 10 working days of the date the defendant was notified of the denial.
 - iii. Level Two appeals will be decided in two ways:
 - 1. Simple cases (determined by the court) will be decided based solely on submitted written appeal.
 - 2. More complex cases, at the request of the Court (e.g. those involving towing, suspension, booting, or others determined to be complex by the Court), may require an oral argument, to be scheduled on the next available hearing sate, provided the defendant is notified with no less than 10 days' notice.
- (b) Decisions will be made pursuant the following subsections:
 - 1. Simple cases will be decided and released o the business day following the decision.
 - 2.More complex cases will be heard and the Court will issue a decision. The Chief Justice will assign a justice to issue a majority opinion or reserve the right to write it him or herself. Once the opinion is issued, the Court will release it on the business day following the issuance.

- (c) If a majority is not reached by the Court on a case, the Level One ruling stands.
- **HEARINGS.** Hearings will occur on Wednesdays at the Parking Services Office at least once per month. If the amount of appeals exceeds the Court's capacity in its monthly meeting, the Court may hold additional hearings, with proper notification given to the parties with the approval of Parking Services.

ARTICLE IX. INTERPRETATION OF THIS CODE

STRICT INTERPRETATION. The Judicial Code shall be strictly interpreted with reference to the precise terms of the document whenever possible. If a provision is ambiguous or leads to illogical consequences in its application, it shall be interpreted in terms of expediency, fair play, and equal justice to all parties.